SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SEP 11 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

MICHAEL EUGENE MAAS,)	S225109	Deputy	
-)			
Petitioner,)	(Court of Appeal No.		
)	D064639)		
VS.	.)	(a b: a		
)	(San Diego County		
SUPERIOR COURT (PEOPLE),)	Sup. Ct. Nos. SCE185960		
T) 1 .)	& SCE188460)		
Respondent.)			
	_)			
Appeal from the San Die	ego Co	ounty Superior Court		

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Decision by the Court of Appeal Fourth Appellate District, Appeal No. D064639 Filed December 10, 2014

RUSSELL S. BABCOCK
California State Bar No. 99130
Certified Specialist, Criminal Law
State Bar of California Board of
Legal Specialization

ISSUE BEFORE THE COURT ON GRANT OF REVIEW

On March 25, 2015, this Court granted review of the following issue: "Does Code of Civil Procedure section 170.6 permit a peremptory challenge to be asserted, before an order to show cause has issued, against a judge who is assigned to assess a petition for writ of habeas corpus?"

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF FACTS

In 1998, petitioner, Michael Eugene Mass, was convicted of grand theft of a car an automobile and unlawfully driving or taking of a vehicle and sentenced to 25 years to life in prison. (Petition at p. 1.) The trial was presided over by the Honorable Allan J. Preckel. (Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Coprus, August 7, 2013, p. 1.) Later, petitioner was convicted of burglary and forgery of a fictitious check and sentenced to a consecutive term of 25 years to life. (Petition at p. 1.) The trial was presided over by the Honorable Larrie R. Brainard. (Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Coprus, August 7, 2013, p. 2.) Both of these cases were affirmed by the Court of Appeal. (People v. Thomas et al. (Jan. 11, 2001, D031288 [nonpub. opn.]; People v. Maas (May 16, 2000, D032176) [nonpub. opn.].)

On July 13, 2013, petitioner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the San Diego County Superior Court. (Petition, Exhibit A.) On July 19, petitioner wrote to the clerk of the Superior Court, asking for the case number assigned to the petition, the date the petition was filed, and the name of the judge assigned to the petition.

(Petition, Exhibit B.) On July 29, petitioner received a photocopy of his petition's cover page file stamped with the date July 17, 2013. (Petition, Exhibit C.) On August 4, 2013, petitioner wrote to the clerk a second time, again asking for the name of the judge assigned to his case. (Petition, Exhibit D.) On August 7, 2013, Judge John M. Thompson filed an order denying petitioner's request for a writ of habeas corpus. (Petition, Exhibit E.)

Petitioner petitioned the Court of Appeal, raising a variety of challenges to the lawfulness of his sentence and ineffective assistance of counsel. In his initial petition with the Court of Appeal, petitioner explained that if he had been told that Judge Thompson would be the judge reviewing his petition, he would have filed a motion to disqualify him. (Petition at p. 2; Code Civ. Proc., § 170.6.¹) In a declaration attached to his initial petition, petitioner repeated his claim that he would have requested that Judge Thompson be removed under section 170.6 and asked for another judge. (Petition, Exhibit G.) In his traverse filed on March 27, 2014, petitioner reiterated his claim that Judge Thompson was biased against him. (Second

¹All references to code sections refer to the Code of Civil Procedure.

Traverse, 1-2.)

The Court of Appeal asked the Attorney General for an informal response addressing Maas's contention that he was denied the right to file a peremptory challenge under section 170.6. After receiving the Attorney General's response, the Court of Appeal issued an order to show cause and appointed counsel for petitioner. Petitioner's appointed counsel filed a supplement petition for writ of habeas corpus.

The Court of Appeal deemed Maas's petition as seeking a writ of mandate directing the Superior Court to vacate its August 7, 2013, order denying his petition for writ of habeas corpus and grant that relief. It also directed the Superior Court to reassign Maas's petition to a judge other than Judge Thompson for the decision. (*Michael Eugene Maas v. Superior Court (People)* (December 10, 2014, D064639) [nonpub. opn.] pp. 6-7.)

This Court granted a petition for review on its own motion, designating petitioner Maas as petitioner.

ARGUMENT

I.

A PETITIONER MAY ASSERT A PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE UNDER CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SECTION 170.6 AGAINST A JUDGE WHO IS ASSIGNED TO ASSESS A PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS BEFORE AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE HAS BEEN ISSUED, IF THE JUDGE IS DIFFERENT FROM THE ORIGINAL TRIAL JUDGE

A. Standard of Review

Claims raising legal questions – including questions of statutory interpretation – are subject to independent review on appeal.

(Haworth v. Superior Court (2010) 50 Cal.4th 372, 384-385; Canister v. Emergency Ambulance Service, Inc. (2008) 160 Cal.App.4th 388, 394 [statutory construction].)

B. Legal Analysis

A judge may not "try a civil or criminal action or special proceeding of any kind or character nor hear any matter therein that involves a contested issue of law" when it is shown that he is prejudiced "against a party or attorney or the interest of a party or attorney appearing in the action or proceeding." (§ 170.6, subd. (a)(1).) To disqualify a judge under this statute, a party "may

establish this prejudice by an oral or written motion without prior notice, supported by affidavit or declaration under penalty of perjury, or an oral statement under oath," that the judge presiding over the matter "is prejudiced against a party or attorney, or the interest of a party or attorney, so that the party or attorney cannot, or believes that he or she cannot, have a fair and impartial trial or hearing before the judge" (§ 170.6, subd. (a)(2).) So long as the "motion is duly presented, and the affidavit or declaration under penalty of perjury is duly filed or an oral statement under oath is duly made, thereupon and without any further act or proof," a new judge shall be assigned. (§ 170.6, subd. (a)(4).)

Section 170.6 provides a party with "an extraordinary right to disqualify a judge," a right that is "'automatic' in the sense that a good faith *belief* in prejudice is alone sufficient, proof of facts showing actual prejudice not being required. [Citations.]" (McCartney v. Commission on Judicial Qualifications (1974) 12 Cal.3d 512, 531, original italics.) "The right conferred by . . . section 170.6 . . . is a substantial right which is now part of the system of due process and judicial fair play in this state." (McCauley v. Superior

Court (1961) 190 Cal.App.2d 562, 564 (McCauley).) "The purpose of the disqualification statute is . . . to promote fair and impartial trials" (International Union of Operating Engineers v. Superior Court (1989) 207 Cal.App.3d 340, 349).

As this Court has noted, this right to disqualify a judge for prejudice without an adjudication of bias resulted from "many years' effort by the organized bar of this state." (*Johnson v. Superior Court* (1958) 50 Cal.2d 693, 696 (*Johnson*).) Since it is difficult to prove a judge's prejudice and it is important that the judicial system be free of any "suspicion of unfairness," the Legislature may have reasonably decided that a party should have a chance to automatically disqualify a judge, without needing to prove a judge's prejudice. (*Ibid.*)

In passing section 170.6, the Legislature "[u]ndoubtedly [considered] the possibility" that this right to automatically disqualify a judge could be abused by litigants. (Mayr v. Superior Court of Tehama County (1964) 228 Cal.App.2d 60, 64 (Tehama County.) In some cases, litigants might use section 170.6 to go "[j]udge-shopping" by removing a judge not because they believe the judge is prejudiced against them, but because they believe the judge's views

on the law or attitude towards the exercise of judicial discretion is not favorable to their position in the case at hand. (Solberg v. Superior Court of San Francisco (1977) 19 Cal.3d 182, 194 (Solberg).) In other cases, litigants may use section 170.6 to gain a tactical advantage over opponents, such as by delaying a trial. (Id. at p. 195.) Nevertheless, after weighing this potential for abuse "against its obvious advantages," the Legislature still chose to enact the law. (Tehama County, supra, 228 Cal.App.2d at p. 64.)

To minimize the abuse of section 170.6, the Legislature placed several limitations on a party's right to automatically disqualify a judge. (Johnson, supra, 50 Cal.2d 693, 697; The Home Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (2005) 34 Cal.4th 1025, 1032 [section 170.6 "is designed to prevent abuse by parties that merely seek to delay a trial or obtain a more favorable judicial forum"].) First, the Legislature limited each side to one disqualification motion in any one action or special proceeding. (§ 170.6, subd. (a)(4); Pappa v. Superior Court (1960) 54 Cal.2d 250, 353.) Second, the Legislature required the party or attorney making the motion to "show good faith by declaring under oath that the judge is prejudiced." (Johnson, supra, at p. 697.)

And third, the Legislature imposed strict timeliness requirements.

(Peracchi v. Superior Court (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1245, 1252

(Peracchi).)

To be timely, a motion to disqualify a judge under section 170.6 must be filed before the occurrence of certain specified events that mark the beginning of the "trial of the cause" or in the case of a hearing, before the beginning of the hearing. (§ 170.6, subd. (a)(2)). Section 170.6, subdivision (a)(2), specifically provides, "In no event shall a judge, court commissioner, or referee entertain the motion if it is made after the drawing of the name of the first juror, or if there is no jury, after the making of an opening statement by counsel for plaintiff, or if there is no opening statement by counsel for plaintiff, then after swearing in the first witness or the giving of any evidence or after trial of the cause has otherwise commenced. If the motion is directed to a hearing, other than the trial of a cause, the motion shall be made not later than commencement of the hearing." This timeliness requirement deters parties from "judge shopping" (Peracchi, supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 1252) by not allowing them to remove a judge once he or she has issued a ruling against them. It

also prevents parties from delaying a trial or hearing once proceedings have begun.

While this Court has held that a party may not make a motion to disqualify a judge at any time after a proceeding has begun, including at a subsequent proceeding that amounts to a continuation of the earlier, original proceeding (Jacobs v. Superior Court (1959) 53 Cal.2d 187 (Jacobs)), this Court has never addressed a situation in which the judge presiding over the original proceeding and the judge presiding over the subsequent proceeding were different. In Jacobs, this Court rejected as untimely two grandparents' motion to disqualify a judge from hearing their request to modify an earlier custody order and their petition for guardianship. (Id. at p. 190.) The judge whom the grandparents moved to disqualify was the same judge who had presided over the original custody proceedings. (Ibid.) In finding the grandparents' motion untimely, this Court explained that the request to modify a custody order and the petition for guardianship did not constitute new actions or special proceedings, but rather continued the original custody proceedings, because in both cases the grandparents sought to modify the judge's earlier orders. (Id. at pp.

190-191 [noting that the parties were the same and "the paramount questions to be decided" by the same judge were the same].)

Even though section 170.6 does not specify whether or not a party may move to disqualify a judge in a subsequent hearing, this Court concluded that "since the motion [to disqualify under section 170.6] must be made before the trial has commenced, it cannot be entertained as to subsequent hearings which are a part or a continuation of the original proceedings." (Jacobs, supra, 53 Cal.2d at p. 190.) The rationale for this rule in Jacobs was to prevent a party from judge shopping. As this Court explained, if a disqualification were allowed in supplemental proceedings, "it would mean that the judge who tried the case, and who is ordinarily in the best position to pass upon the questions involved, could by a mere general allegation of prejudice, . . . be disqualified from hearing such matters " (Id. at p. 191.) Such a rule "would make it possible for litigants to gamble on obtaining a favorable decision from one judge, and then, if confronted with an adverse judgment, allow them to disqualify him without presenting facts showing prejudice, in the hope of securing a different ruling from another judge in supplementary proceedings

involving substantially the same issues." (Ibid.)

By preventing parties in a supplementary proceeding from moving to disqualify the same judge who presided over the original proceeding, this Court rightly balanced the substantial right of automatic disqualification against the substantial danger of judge shopping. Since in *Jacobs* the grandparents had already accepted the judge in the earlier proceeding and therefore indicated he was not prejudiced against them, there was no danger that the later, supplementary proceedings might appear to be unfair.

But if a different judge presides over the subsequent proceedings, then the rationale of *Jacobs* should not apply. First, if a different judge presides over the supplementary proceedings, there would be no danger that parties might misuse section 170.6 to try to shop for a judge that they perceived to be more favorable to their position.

Second, and even more important, to apply the rule set forth in *Jacobs* to a situation in which a different judge presided over the supplementary proceeding would undermine the purpose of section 170.6. Section 170.6 was designed to give parties a substantial right to automatically disqualify a judge as "part of the system of due

process and judicial fair play in this state." (McCauley, supra, 190 Cal.App.2d at p. 564.) The right also helps preserve the integrity of the state's judicial system. (See Johnson, supra, 50 Cal.2d 693, 696.)

To preserve both the actual and perceived fairness of the judicial process, this Court should follow the Court of Appeal in modifying the Jacobs rule for situations in which the judge who presides over a supplementary proceeding is different from the judge who presided over the original proceeding. A party, either petitioner or respondent, who has not previously moved under section 170.6 may do so in a supplemental proceeding to the original action only if the challenge is directed "as to a judge other than any judge who has previously heard any phase of the matter." (People v. Smith (1961) 196 Cal.App.2d 854, 859 (Smith); see also, California Criminal Defense Practice (2015) § 60.07[2][d] ["The only time a disqualification motion can be made in a supplemental hearing is when the presiding judge is one other than the one who has heard previous phases of the matter"].)

In Smith, the Court of Appeal concluded that a defendant may file a section 170.6 affidavit to disqualify a judge from hearing an allegation that the defendant violated probation where the judge had

no previous connection to the case. (Smith, supra, 196 Cal.App.2d at p. 859-860.) Because the judge had never heard any earlier proceedings in the case, the Court of Appeal determined that the party moving to disqualify the judge under section 170.6 could not engage in the kind of abuse identified by this Court in Jacobs. (Smith, supra, 196 Cal.App.2d 854, 859.) As the court in Smith explained, when the judge at the subsequent proceeding is a different judge from the one at the original proceeding, "we are not dealing with the limitations imposed by the Legislature to prevent an abuse of the section but with the basic objective of the section itself." (Smith, supra, 196 Cal.App.2d 854, 859.) That objective, as the court in Smith emphasized, is set forth in the opening paragraph of section 170.6, which specifies that "[n]o judge of any superior . . . court of the State of California shall try any civil or criminal action or special proceeding of any kind or character nor hear any matter therein which involves a contested issue of law or fact" if a party establishes that the judge is prejudiced in accordance with the requirements of section 170.6.

This court should apply the Court of Appeal's reasoning in Smith

to petitioner's case because there is no danger that petitioner was trying to judge shop or cause undue delays. Although a petition for writ of habeas corpus "is generally regarded as a special proceeding" (People v. Villa (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1063, 1069), courts have also described habeas corpus as a continuation of the original criminal proceeding. (See Yokley v. Superior Court (1980) 108 Cal.App.3d 622, 627-628 (Yokley).) In Yokley, the Court of Appeal explained that a proceeding constitutes a continuation of the original action when the supplementary proceeding concerned "matters necessarily relevant and material to the issues involved in the [original] action." (Id. at p. 626, quoting McClenny v. Superior Court (1964) 60 Cal.2d 677, 684 (McClenny), italics omitted.) The Court of Appeal cited cases holding that a contempt proceeding is a continuation of the original domestic relations action (McClenny, supra, 60 Cal.2d at p. 681), a probation revocation hearing is a continuation of the original criminal trial (People v. Rojas (1963) 216 Cal.App.2d 819), and a retrial after reversal in a criminal case was a continuation of the original criminal proceeding (Pappa v. Superior Court (1960) 54 Cal.2d 350).

In Yokley, the court then explained that "[t]he factual issues to be resolved [in an order-to-show-cause proceeding] relate directly to the criminal proceeding and involve matters necessarily relevant and material to the issues involved in the original action, and thus constitute a continuation of the original action." (Yokley, supra, 108 Cal.App.3d at p. 628.) Since the judge in the order-to-show-cause proceeding had been the judge in the petitioner's criminal trial, the Court of Appeal did not permit the petitioner in Yokley to use section 170.6 to challenge the judge. (Id. at p. 627.) The court, however, did note in dictum that as long as a judge who had "never previously participated in the case was assigned to the case, a party who had not yet exercised a section 170.6 challenge could exercise it against the new judge." (Ibid.)

Although *Yokley* addressed the stage of a habeas corpus proceeding after an order to show cause has been issued, the stage at which a judge decides whether to issue an order to show cause also involves contested issues of law and fact. "A habeas corpus proceeding begins with the filing of a verified petition for a writ of habeas corpus" (*People v. Romero* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 728, 737

(Romero)) that "allege[s] unlawful restraint, name[s] the person by whom the petitioner is so restrained, and specif[ies] the facts on which [the petitioner] bases his claim that the restraint is unlawful." (In re Lawler (1979) 23 Cal.3d 190, 194; see Pen. Code, § 1474.) In reviewing a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, a court must determine whether the petition puts forward a prima facie case for relief by setting forth facts that, if true, would entitle a petitioner to relief, and whether the petitioner's claims are procedurally barred. (Romero, supra, 8 Cal.4th at p. 737.) If the petition either fails to state a prima facie case for relief or is procedurally barred, then the court may summarily deny it. (Ibid.) But if a habeas corpus petition "states a prima facie case on a claim that is not procedurally barred," then "the court is obligated by statute to issue a writ of habeas corpus." (Ibid.; Pen. Code, § 1476.) When the court is deciding whether or not it may issue a writ of habeas corpus, it is resolving a contested issue of law and fact - namely, whether a prima facie case for relief has been made by the petitioner.

Although this court has explained that "because of the dangers presented by judge-shopping – by either party – the limits on the

number and timing of challenges pursuant to this statute are vigorously enforced" (Perrachi, supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 1263), petitioner contends that in his case the statute should be liberally construed "to effect its objects and to promote justice" (Eagle Maint. & Supply Co. v. Superior Court (1961) 196 Cal. App. 2d 692, 695; see also § 4). First, the kind of abuse that this court was concerned about in Jacobs could not have occurred in petitioner's case because the judge who ruled on his habeas petition was different from the judges who presided over his two trials. The Honorable Allan J. Preckel presided over his trial in case number SCE185960. (Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, August 7, 2013, p. 1.) And the Honorable Larrie R. Brainard presided over his trial in case number SCE188460. (Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Coprus, August 7, 2013, p. 2.) The Honorable Judge M. Thompson ruled on petitioner's habeas petition.

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