**In the Supreme Court of the State of California**

**MICHAEL EUGENE MAAS,**

**Petitioner,**

**v.**

**SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN DIEGO  
COUNTY,**

**Respondent.**

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF  
CALIFORNIA,**

**Real Party in Interest.**

Case No. S225109

**SUPREME COURT  
FILED**

**SEP 29 2015**

**Frank A. McGuire Clerk**  

---

**Deputy**

Fourth Appellate District, Case No. D064639  
San Diego County Superior Court, Case Nos. SCE 185960 and 188460  
The Honorable John M. Thompson, Judge

**ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

KAMALA D. HARRIS  
Attorney General of California  
EDWARD C. DUMONT  
Solicitor General  
GERALD A. ENGLER  
Chief Assistant Attorney General

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

“A motion under this paragraph may be made following reversal on appeal of a trial court's decision, or following reversal on appeal of a trial court's final judgment, if the trial judge in the prior proceeding is assigned to conduct a new trial on the matter. Notwithstanding paragraph (4), the party who filed the appeal that resulted in the reversal of a final judgment of a trial court may make a motion under this section regardless of whether that party or side has previously done so. The motion shall be made within 60 days after the party or the party's attorney has been notified of the assignment.”



purpose assignment,” or a trial assignment by a master calendar department. (See generally, *Lavi, supra*, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1171.)

### 1. Prior proceedings on the merits

Even if a peremptory challenge is otherwise timely, it “must be denied if the judge has presided at an earlier hearing which involved a determination of contested factual issues relating to the merits.” (*Grant, supra*, 90 Cal.App.4th at p. 525.) As section 170.6, subdivision (a)(2), alternatively expresses in the negative: “The fact that a judge, court commissioner, or referee has presided at, or acted in connection with, a pretrial conference or other hearing, proceeding, or motion prior to trial, and not involving a determination of contested fact issues relating to the merits, shall not preclude the later making of the motion provided for in this paragraph at the time and in the manner herein provided.” So expressed, this rule is simply a compliment to the requirement of subdivision (a)(1) that a peremptory challenge is available only where there is a contested issue of law or fact.

Courts interpreting this provision have concluded that initial court rulings on a variety of pretrial motions do not prevent a subsequent peremptory challenge. (See *Guardado v. Superior Court* (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 91, 97, fn. 5 [listing examples]; *School District of Okaloosa County v. Superior Court* (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 1126, 1133-1134 [“Most pretrial motions are decided without a determination of contested facts related to the merits of the case.”].) Most notably, several courts have concluded that an earlier demurrer does not involve “contested fact issues” so as to prevent a later challenge in the same cause. (See, e.g., *Fight for the Rams v. Superior Court* (1996) 41 Cal.App.4th 953, 957; *Zdonek v. Superior Court* (1974) 38 Cal.App.3d 849, 852-853, abandoned on other grounds *Woodman v. Superior Court* (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 407, 410; cf. *Hospital Council of Northern Cal. v. Superior Court* (1973) 30 Cal.App.3d

331, 337 [motion for judgment on the pleadings].) Other courts have reached a similar conclusion in the context of a prior ruling on a motion for summary judgment. (See, e.g., *Bambula v. Superior Court* (1985) 174 Cal.App.3d 653, 655, 657; cf. *Kohn v. Superior Court* (1966) 239 Cal.App.2d 428, 430-431 [motion to dismiss pursuant to Pen. Code, § 995].)

On the other hand, a pretrial motion to suppress a confession has been held to be a contested adjudication on the merits because such a hearing necessarily involves an “adjudication that is of consequence to the determination of the legal guilt or innocence of the accused.” (*In re Abdul Y.* (1982) 130 Cal.App.3d 847, 859-860; see also *Briggs v. Superior Court* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 312, 317 [ruling on motion to exclude a report and testimony from probable cause hearing]; *California Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. v. Superior Court* (1987) 189 Cal.App.3d 267, 270-271 [motion for summary judgment on a “make or break” issue considered a merits determination].)

Section 170.6 did not always draw this dichotomy between matters heard on the merits and those that are not. Half a century ago, a party forfeited the right to exercise a peremptory challenge by failing to challenge a judge prior to a hearing on a demurrer. (See, e.g., *Swartzman v. Superior Court* (1964) 231 Cal.App.2d 195, 200; *Ball v. City Council* (1967) 252 Cal.App.2d 136, 145-147.) In 1965, however, the Legislature added the above-noted language in subdivision (a)(2) excepting matters not involving “contested fact issues relating to the merits.”<sup>3</sup> The State Bar of California

---

<sup>3</sup> The amended language provided: “The fact that a judge . . . has presided at or acted in connection with a pretrial conference or other hearing, proceeding, or motion prior to trial and not involving a determination of contested fact issues relating to the merits shall not

(continued...)

drafted and sponsored the legislation “to permit the litigant to exercise his peremptory right to disqualify a judge prior to trial ‘notwithstanding that the judge had earlier heard demurrers and motions without challenge.’” (*Abdul Y., supra*, 130 Cal.App.3d at p. 858, quoting *Zdonek v. Superior Court, supra*, 38 Cal.App.3d at p. 852; see also *In re Jose S.* (1978) 78 Cal.App.3d 619, 626.) As the State Bar explained, in contrast to a preliminary injunction hearing, “hearings on demurrers, pleadings and other matters before trial are comparatively routine and should not result in waiver.” (*Abdul Y., supra*, 130 Cal.App.3d at p. 858, quoting Report of the Committee on Administration of Justice (1964) 39 State Bar J. 496, 498.) The State Bar outlined four specific benefits that the amendment would bring:

“The committee believes that the suggested change in Section 170.6, if enacted into law, will (1) conserve judicial manpower on the smaller counties; (2) reduce the number of disqualification motions statewide; (3) preserve the motion for the important situation where fact determinations are involved, such as trials; (4) recognize that preliminary motions and matters are often handled in routine fashion by an attorney other than the one who will try the case, without the presence of the client (whose views and information are important on a disqualification motion).”

(*Ibid.*)

## 2. All-purpose assignments

In addition to trials and contested issues of law or fact, at least one court has concluded that section 170.6 also applies when a case involves an all-purpose assignment to a specific judge. (*Grant v. Superior Court, supra*, 90 Cal.App.4th at p. 522 [“The limited right of section 170.6 does not. . .

---

(...continued)

preclude the later making of the motion provided for herein at the time and in the manner hereinbefore provided.” (Stats. 1965, ch. 1442, § 1, p. 3375.)

permit a peremptory challenge to be filed or accepted absent a pending trial, a pending hearing involving a contested issue of fact or law, or an all purpose assignment.”]; see generally *Lavi, supra*, 4 Cal.4th at pp. 1172, 1178-1182 [“for any given factual scenario, it must be determined whether any of section 170.6, subdivision (2)’s pertinent exceptions (the 10-day/5-day rule, the master calendar rule, or the all purpose assignment rule) are applicable, or whether the general rule (the commencement of trial rule) should apply.”]; cf. *Woodman v. Superior Court* (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 407, 421 [creating judicial all-purpose exception prior to amendment of § 170.6, subd. (a)(2).]

The all-purpose assignment language is not found in subdivision (a)(1), which generally defines the applicability of the statute. Instead, it is first referenced in subdivision (a)(2), which addresses the timing of such challenges and which states in relevant part:

If the judge, other than a judge assigned to the case for all purposes, court commissioner, or referee assigned to, or who is scheduled to try, the cause or hear the matter is known at least 10 days before the date set for trial or hearing, the motion shall be made at least 5 days before that date. . . . If directed *to the trial of a criminal cause* that has been assigned to a judge for all purposes, the motion shall be made to the assigned judge or to the presiding judge by a party within 10 days after notice of the all purpose assignment, or if the party has not yet appeared in the action, then within 10 days after the appearance. If directed to the *trial of a civil cause* that has been assigned to a judge for all purposes, the motion shall be made to the assigned judge or to the presiding judge by a party within 15 days after notice of the all purpose assignment, or if the party has not yet appeared in the action, then within 15 days after the appearance.

(§ 170.6, subd. (a)(2), italics added.)

It is unclear from this language that the all-purpose assignment creates a third category of cases in which a peremptory challenge may be made. Given the context of subdivision (a)(2), it seems that this provision relates

to the timing of the challenge, rather than the criteria for bringing the challenge, which are given in subdivision (a)(1). The language of subdivision (a)(2) reveals the all-purpose assignment is concerned with the “trial” of either a civil or criminal “cause.” Thus, rather than create a third category of applicable cases, the all-purpose assignment rule is arguably simply a subset of the requirement of a trial in subdivision (a)(1). As discussed further below, however, it is unnecessary to decide this somewhat metaphysical question in order to resolve this case, which does not involve an all-purpose assignment.

### **3. The master calendar rule**

The master calendar rule applies when a trial-ready case is assigned to a trial-ready courtroom by a master calendar department. (*Lavi, supra*, 4 Cal.4th at pp. 1175, 1177.) Because the case must be trial ready before the assignment is made, this exception to the timeliness rule does not alter the requirement of subdivision (a)(1) that peremptory challenges are available for trials and matters “therein.” In any event, there is no suggestion that this rule would apply in the present context where there is no evidence of an assignment by a master calendar department, let alone an assignment to a trial ready department.

#### **C. The Court of Appeal’s Expansion of Section 170.6**

In the present case, the Court of Appeal expanded the reach of section 170.6 well beyond the statutory language. It concluded that “by its terms” this section applies “in any ‘civil or criminal action or *special proceeding of any kind or character.*’” (Slip opn. at 4, quoting § 170.6, subd. (a)(1), italics added by Court of Appeal.) Because habeas corpus is generally regarded as a special proceeding, the court reasoned that “a petitioner seeking a writ of habeas corpus may assert a challenge to the judge assigned to the petition.” (Slip opn. at 4.) But section 170.6 does not say

that it applies in “any” civil or criminal action or special proceeding; instead, it states that a judicial officer shall not “try” such a proceeding or hear any matter therein that involves a “contested issue of law or fact” when a party believes the judicial officer is prejudiced. (§ 170.6, subd. (a)(1).) The Court of Appeal’s substitution of the word “any” for “try” was dramatic. As drafted by the Legislature, the first clause of section 170.6, subdivision (a)(1), applies solely to matters that are *tried*, that is, *trials*. The Court of Appeal eliminated this requirement and made the peremptory challenge provision applicable without limitation.

The court compounded this oversight by ignoring the second alternative provision of subdivision (a)(1) relating to “contested issues of law or fact” and thereby rendered that clause a nullity. Namely, if peremptory challenges are available without restriction in any civil or criminal action or special proceeding of any kind, and are not limited to only trials of those actions or proceedings, then it would not make sense for the Legislature alternatively to prohibit a court from hearing “any matter therein that involves a contested issue of law or fact.” Such contested matters would already be included within the Court of Appeal’s definition of “any” civil or criminal action or special proceeding of “any kind or character” and would therefore be mere surplusage. (See *Berkeley Hillside Preservation v. City of Berkeley* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 1086, 1104 [because construction would transform statutory language into meaningless surplusage, it is one court “should avoid.”].)

“The fundamental task of statutory construction is to ‘ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. [Citations.] In order to determine this intent, we begin by examining the language of the statute.’” (*People v. Cruz* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 774-775, quoting *People v. Pieters* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898.) Here, the language is unambiguous: the right to file a peremptory challenge does not extend to

any proceeding; to the contrary, section 170.6 specifically limits the types of proceedings to which it applies. To the extent there is any ambiguity in the statute, it extends only to whether an all-purpose assignment under subdivision (a)(2) creates a third class of applicable proceeding, or whether it simply further defines the categories of trials and contested matters of law and fact.

Hence, the question before this court is not whether a habeas proceeding constitutes a special proceeding; it does. (*People v. Villa* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1063, 1069.) Instead, the question is whether the mere filing of a habeas petition satisfies the requirement of either *a trial or a hearing on a contested issue of law or fact*, and potentially the further question of whether the judge assigned to decide the petition constitutes an all-purpose assignment. To answer these questions, it is necessary to discuss the nature of habeas corpus proceedings as well as all-purpose assignments.

**D. The Mere Filing of a Habeas Petition Does Not Establish a Right to Trial or Give Rise to Contested Issues of Law or Fact**

A habeas corpus proceeding is a collateral attack upon a criminal judgment, which is presumed to be valid because of societal interest in the finality of judgments. (*In re Sanders* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 697, 703; *People v. Duvall* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 464, 474 (*Duvall*); *In re Clark* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 750, 764 (*Clark*); *People v. Gonzalez* (1990) 51 Cal.3d 1179, 1260 (*Gonzalez*)). “Because a petition for writ of habeas corpus seeks to collaterally attack a presumptively final criminal judgment, the petitioner bears a heavy burden initially to *plead* sufficient ground for relief, and then later to *prove* them.” (*Duvall, supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 474.)

“A habeas corpus proceeding begins with the filing of a verified petition for a writ of habeas corpus.” (*People v. Romero* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 728, 737 (*Romero*)). But the filing of the petition is only the beginning; it is

simply the means that initiates the process: “[T]he petition serves primarily to launch the judicial inquiry into the legality of the restraint on the petitioner’s liberty. . . .” (*Id.* at p. 738.) “When presented with a petition for a writ of habeas corpus, a court must first determine whether the petition states a prima facie case for relief—that is, whether it states facts that, if true, entitle the petitioner to relief—and also whether the stated claims are for any reason procedurally barred.” (*Id.* at p. 737; *Clark, supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 769, fn. 9.)

“If the court determines that the petition does not state a prima facie case for relief or that the claims are all procedurally barred, the court will deny the petition outright, such dispositions being commonly referred to as ‘summary denials.’” (*Romero, supra*, 8 Cal.4th at p. 737; *In re Clark, supra*, 5 Cal.4th 750, 769, fn. 9, 781). When, on the other hand, a habeas corpus petition is sufficient on its face, the court must issue a writ of habeas corpus “without delay.” (Pen. Code, § 1476; *Romero, supra*, 8 Cal.4th at pp. 737-738; *Duvall, supra*, 9 Cal.4th at p. 475.)<sup>4</sup>

“The function of the writ or order [to show cause] is to ‘institute a proceeding in which issues of fact are to be framed and decided.’” (*Romero, supra*, 8 Cal.4th at p. 740, quoting *In re Hochberg* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 870, 876, fn. 4.) The petition itself creates no cause or proceeding that would confer jurisdiction. (*People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 51 Cal.3d at p. 1258). “The issuance of either the writ of habeas corpus or the order to show cause creates a “cause,” thereby triggering the state constitutional requirement that the cause be resolved ‘in writing with reasons stated’

---

<sup>4</sup> As an alternative to requiring the custodian to bring the prisoner physically before the court, courts sometimes use the substitute of an order to show cause why relief should not be granted instead of granting the writ. (*Romero, supra*, 8 Cal.4th at p. 738.)

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